

College Affordability for Low-Income Adults: Improving Returns on Investment for Families and Society

Barbara Gault, Ph.D. Lindsey Reichlin, M.A. Stephanie Román



### **About This Report**

This report was prepared by the Institute for Women's Policy Research (IWPR) as a part of a series of papers on defining college affordability sponsored by the Lumina Foundation. The report examines how efforts to understand and improve college affordability can be informed by the experiences and circumstances of low-income adults, students of color, and students with dependent children. The paper is a part of IWPR's larger body of work on improving college access and success among low-income communities.

The authors wish to acknowledge Dr. Heidi Hartmann, IWPR President, for her helpful direction, Tiffany Boiman, IWPR Senior Policy and Outreach Associate for her input and feedback on the ideas presented in the paper, and Jeff Hayes, IWPR Study Director, for his help and expertise in preparing the wage data used in the report. IWPR thanks Meghan Froehner, IWPR Consultant, and Research Interns Anastasia Foerschner and Sylvia Krohn, for their valuable research assistance. IWPR also extends its appreciation to the Lumina Foundation for its support for this research, and to Zakiya Smith, Strategy Director, and David Croom, Policy Associate, in particular, for their help and guidance throughout the writing process.

### About the Institute for Women's Policy Research

IWPR conducts rigorous research and disseminates its findings to address the needs of women, promote public dialogue, and strengthen families, communities, and societies. IWPR works with policymakers, scholars, and public interest groups to design, execute, and disseminate research that illuminates economic and social policy issues affecting women and their families, and to build a network of individuals and organizations that conduct and use women-oriented policy research. The Institute's work is supported by foundation grants, government grants and contracts, donations from individuals, and contributions from organizations and corporations. IWPR is a 501(c)(3) tax-exempt organization that also works in affiliation with the women's studies and public policy and public administration programs at The George Washington University.

#### Disclaimer

This paper is one in a series of reports funded by Lumina Foundation. The series is designed to generate innovative ideas for improving the ways in which postsecondary education is paid for in this country — by students, states, institutions and the federal government — in order to make higher education more affordable and more equitable. The views expressed in

### **Board of Directors**

Esmeralda O. Lyn, Chair Hofstra University, Professor Emerita Holly Fechner, Vice Chair **Covington & Burling LLP** Cynthia Lloyd, Secretary Population Council, Consultant Sylphiel Yip, Treasurer G.X. Clarke & Co. William Baer Bloomingdale's Martha Darling Boeing (retired) **Ellen Delany** Delany, Siegel, Zorn & Associates, Inc. Lvnn Gitlitz **Business Development Consultant** David A. Goslin American Institutes for Research, former CEO Lorretta Johnson American Federation of Teachers, AFL-CIO Ellen Karp Anerca Kai-yan Lee Vanke Susan Meade Phillips Oppenheim **Leslie Platt Zolov** Pfizer William Rodgers, III **Rutgers University** Marcia Worthing New York, NY

Heidi Hartmann, President Institute for Women's Policy Research Barbara Gault, Vice President Institute for Women's Policy Research

IWPR #C412, February 2014 © Copyright 2013 by the Institute for Women's Policy Research this paper — and all papers in this series — are those of its author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of Lumina Foundation.

Institute for Women's Policy Research 1200 18th Street NW, Suite 301 Washington, DC 20036 Tel: 202/785.5100 Fax: 202/833.4362 www.iwpr.org

### College Affordability for Low-Income Adults: Improving Returns on Investment for Families and Society

Barbara Gault, Ph.D. Lindsey Reichlin, M.A. Stephanie Román



### **Table of Contents**

Introduction: Broadening the Definition of Affordability	1
Financial Need Among Low-Income Students	3
Time and College Affordability Among Low-Income Students	10
Differential College Outcomes by Gender, Race, and Ethnicity	16
Considerations for Measuring Return on Investment to College for Low-Income Students	25
The Affordability of Higher Education for Society	31
Recommendations: Steps Toward Improving Affordability	33
References	35

### List of Figures

Figure 1. Dependency Status of Undergraduate Students by Race/Ethnicity, 2011-12
Figure 2. Proportion of Undergraduate Students with Children by Race/Ethnicity and Gender5
Figure 3. Undergraduate Students with Children with an EFC of \$0 by Race and Gender6
Figure 4. Unmet Need Among Undergraduate Students by Gender, Parent Status, and Dependency Status
Figure 5. Average Undergraduate Debt One Year After Graduation by Gender and Parent Status
Figure 6. Undergraduate Students Who Work 40 or More Hours per Week by Dependency Status, 2011-12
Figure 7. Attendance Intensity Among Undergraduate Students by Dependency Status11
Figure 8. Reason for Work Among Undergraduate Students by Income Level, 200911
Figure 9. Hours Worked per Week Among Undergraduate Students by Race/Ethnicity12
Figure 10. Hours Worked per Week Among Undergraduate Students, by Institution Type13
Figure 11. Full-Time Activities (30 Hours or More per Week) of Single Parents Attending Community College
Figure 12. Proportion of Public Postsecondary Institutions with On-Campus Child Care

Figure 13. Women's Earnings as a Percentage of Men's for All Full-Time, Full-Year Bachelor's Degree Holders, 1979-2011
Figure 14. Full-Time, Full-Year Women's Earnings as a Percentage of Comparable Men's Earnings for Bachelor's Degree Holders, Ages 25-34, 1980-201117
Figure 15. Median Earnings for Full-Time, Full-Year Workers Ages 25 and Older with a Bachelor's Degree by Gender and Race/Ethnicity, 2009-2011
Figure 16. Median Earnings of Bachelor's Degree Holders Ages 25 and Older as Proportion of Comparable White Workers' Earnings, 1980-2011
Figure 17. Median Earnings by Degree and Race/Ethnicity for Full-Time, Full-Year Workers Ages 25 and Older, 2011
Figure 18. Median Earnings by Major for Full-Time, Full-Year Workers with a Bachelor's Degree
Figure 19. Five Most Common Associate's Degrees for Women and Men by Race/Ethnicity and Gender, 2008-200921
Figure 20. Intentions of Freshmen at All Institutions to Major in Science and Engineering Fields by Race/Ethnicity and Gender, 201022
Figure 21. Proportion of Associates Degrees Awarded to Men and Women by Field, 2001-2010 23

### Introduction: Broadening the Definition of Affordability

When discussing and defining college affordability, whether for purposes of policy formation, communication with students, or weighing the value of individual, private, and public

investments, a number of specific considerations apply to low-income students. Low-income students are more likely to be financially independent, to be first generation students, to be students of color, and to be parents. They have greater time constraints, less access to information about enrollment, careers, and financial aid, more unmet need, more health challenges, a higher likelihood of serious material scarcity such as food insecurity and difficulty paying bills, and poorer labor market outcomes following degree attainment. Our conception of affordability must expand beyond a singular focus on cost, to reflect the variety of circumstances that may affect low-income students' decisions to enter college, and their ability to persist and succeed. Affordable college education provides equal access to quality

Our conception of affordability must expand beyond a singular focus on cost, to reflect the variety of circumstances that affect low-income students' decisions to enter college and their ability to persist and succeed.

careers, time to care for oneself and one's family, and sufficient resources for material, social, and physical well-being. A broad definition of affordability can help potential students envision an economic path to college and promote a broader array of policy and program interventions to improve educational opportunity.

#### For individuals and families, college is "affordable" when:

- Students and their families are able to meet living expenses with a reasonable standard of living both during and after school enrollment. A reasonable standard of living would provide:
  - a level of income at a basic standard of self-sufficiency;
  - adequate time for school work, self care, sleep, and care for family members; and
  - the opportunity to function without unhealthy levels of stress.
- Students can anticipate substantial economic and social gain after graduation compared with a future without college. Affordability will be improved if the economic outcomes are comparable across lines of gender, race, and ethnicity.

#### From a societal perspective, college is "affordable" if:

 Cost is not a significant barrier to individuals' ability to attain postsecondary credentials;

- Public expenditures pay off over the long-term without creating excessive short-term fiscal strain. Likely long-term benefits from college include an array of macroeconomic benefits that arise from a more highly educated population, such as:
  - a greater likelihood that children of graduates will themselves attend college;
  - reductions in economic inequality, intergenerational poverty, social welfare spending, and health care expenditures; and
  - improved health, well-being, and civic engagement.
- Institutions of higher learning provide good value and efficiency.

This report discusses how the time and financial demands associated with financial independence, parenthood, and work affect a student's ability to invest in college, and how segregation in college majors diminishes returns on investment for low-income students. It makes recommendations for systemic efforts to improve racial/ethnic and gender equity in college outcomes, to help students see college as an investment worth making, to better attune the financial aid system to low-income students' needs, and to expand supports that acknowledge the multiple responsibilities that low-income students often carry as employees and caregivers.

### **Financial Need Among Low-Income Students**

The share of students experiencing significant financial need while in school has grown in recent years. Analysis by the Institute for Women's Policy Research (IWPR)<sup>1</sup> finds that in just five years between 2008 and 2012, the proportion of college students who had low-incomes rose dramatically, from 40 percent of undergraduate students with incomes under 200 percent of the Federal Poverty Level (FPL), in 2008, to 51 percent in 2012. The proportion of students under 100 percent of the FPL also increased from 20 percent to 30 percent of students during that time. In 2012, 17 percent of college students had incomes below 50 percent of the FPL. The growing share of students in poverty suggests that access to public benefits and supports must be improved to help low-income students afford college and make ends meet.

Low-income students are more likely to be financially independent than their higher-income peers. Two-thirds of low-income students (with incomes between zero and 200 percent of the poverty level), and 41.8 percent of students with incomes between 200 and 500 percent of poverty are financially independent.<sup>2</sup> The likelihood of financial independence also varies by race and ethnicity. Nearly two-thirds of Black and American Indian/Alaska Native students are financially independent, compared with about half of white students, and 41 percent of Asian students (Figure 1).



### Figure 1: Dependency Status of Undergraduate Students by Race/Ethnicity, 2011-12

Source: IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2007-08 and 2011-2012 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:08 and NPSAS:12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

As of 2012, 4.8 million independent college students had their own dependent children, comprising nearly 26 percent of the total college population.<sup>3</sup> Students with children are more likely than other students to have low-incomes and to be first-generation students (Miller, Gault, and Thorman 2011), and a striking 87.8 percent of *single<sup>4</sup>* students with children have incomes at or below 200 percent of poverty.<sup>5</sup> Women are disproportionately likely to be balancing college and parenthood, many without the support of a spouse or partner: women make up 71 percent of all student parents, and are the vast majority (79.4 percent) of single

parents. Single mothers are 42.5 percent of the total student parent population, and 60 percent of student mothers are single mothers.<sup>6</sup>

Women of color in postsecondary education are more likely than other college students to have dependent children: 47 percent of African American women students, 39.4 percent of Native American students, and 31.6 percent of Latina college students are mothers (Figure 2). Student parents of color have lower incomes than white student parents: nearly 71 percent of black student parents and 68 percent of Hispanic student parents live at or below 200 percent of the poverty level, compared with 49 percent of white student parents.<sup>7</sup> Women of color in postsecondary education are more likely than other college students to have dependent children: 47 percent of African American women students, 39.4 percent of Native American students, and 31.6 percent of Latina college students are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Single is defined as all students who are single, married, divorced or separated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Ibid.



## Figure 2: Proportion of Undergraduate Students with Children by Race/Ethnicity and Gender

Source: IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

Independent students, low-income students, students of color, women, and student parents are disproportionately likely to have no money to contribute to college expenses (i.e. to have an Expected Family Contribution (EFC) of \$0; Figure 3), and to have high levels of unmet need (Huelsman and Engle 2013; Miller 2012).<sup>8</sup> An IWPR analysis finds that 67.3 percent of low-income students have an EFC of 0.9 Students with children are nearly twice as likely as those without children to have an EFC of 0.9 Students of students with no children, and 61.2 percent of students with children have EFCs of 0.10 Among student parents, women are far more likely than men to have expected contributions of 0 (Figure 3), and students of color, with or without children, are far more likely than white students to be in this position.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Unmet need is equal to the student budget (tuition and non-tuition academic expenses) minus the EFC and all aid, which includes need-based and non-need based financial aid at the federal, state and institutional level and private grants but not private loans.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  Ibid.

 $<sup>^{11}</sup>$  Ibid.



## Figure 3: Undergraduate Students with Children with an EFC of \$0 by Race/Ethnicity and Gender

Source: IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

A very small proportion of low-income students with dependent children receive TANF benefits: in 2011-12, among students with children under 50 percent of the FPL, only 7.4 percent received TANF benefits. Huelsman and Engle (2013) point out that the EFC formula, in its calculation of students' Income Protection Allowance, defines a minimum standard of living as 100-150 percent of the federal poverty level, which significantly underestimates what students actually need to make ends meet. Wider Opportunities for Women, using their Basic Economic Security Tables (BEST) Index, calculates detailed estimates of the income required to meet basic needs for more than 400 family types (Wider Opportunities for Women 2010). After accounting for the cost of housing, child care, food, transportation, health care, and taxes, according to geographic location, the BEST Index estimates what a family would need before public or private assistance to maintain a basic standard of living. The BEST Index calculator estimates that, as a national average, a single parent family with two young children would need an estimated \$61,044 to make ends meet (Wider Opportunities for Women 2014). In contrast, the Census Bureau 2013).

The maximum Pell grant amount (\$5,645 for 2013-14; Federal Student Aid 2013) is low enough to leave many students with significant unmet need. After all sources of student financial aid are taken into account, low-income students have much higher unmet need than their higher-income peers: the average unmet need experienced by low-income students, \$6,480, is approximately \$1,500 more than the average unmet of all students (\$4,985) and approximately

"Going to school and working is the hardest thing I've ever done. I barely get by, and I've been homeless from my lack of ability to make enough money."\* \$4,500 more than that of their high-income counterparts (at \$1,958).<sup>12</sup> Students with children also experience more unmet need than those without children, and student mothers have more unmet need than student fathers (Figure 4). Student mothers had an average of \$5,836 in unmet need in 2011-2012, compared with \$4,933 in unmet need among student fathers (Figure 4).

## Figure 4: Unmet Need Among Undergraduate Students by Gender, Parent Status, and Dependency Status



Source: IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

The unmet need experienced by low-income students contributes to high levels of student debt upon graduation. While moderate levels of debt might certainly be a worthwhile investment given expected returns to education, students may hesitate to take on debt if they worry about their own prospects for completion. Among those who graduate college with student debt, women, both with and without children, have higher levels of debt than men without children, and student parents graduate from school with higher levels of debt than students without children (Figure 7). Among students with debt, student parents have an average of \$28,350 in undergraduate debt one year after graduation compared with \$24,499 of debt among those without children (Figure 5).

<sup>\*</sup> Quotations included in this report come from IWPR's 2013-2014 survey of women community college students in Mississippi (IWPR and Women's Fund of Mississippi, 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).



## Figure 5: Average Undergraduate Debt\* One Year after Graduation by Gender and Parent Status

\*Average debt is for students with some undergraduate debt. Sample does not include students with no undergraduate debt.

Source: IWPR calculations, 2008 Baccalaureate and Beyond Survey data. U.S. Department of Education, National Center of Education Statistics.

#### **Access to Public Assistance Among College Students**

Public benefits such as cash assistance and nutrition assistance are important, yet often underutilized, resources that could help make college affordable for many lowincome students. Improving access to public benefit programs could help low-income and non-traditional college students meet their financial needs while progressing towards a degree.

Temporary Assistance for Needy Families, or TANF, can provide cash assistance to qualifying low-income parents and their families, yet few eligible students receive it. Eligibility requirements for TANF vary significantly by state, with income eligibility requirements ranging from as low as 17 percent of the Federal Poverty Level (FPL) in Alabama in 2011, to 98 percent of FPL in Hawaii, with an average maximum income at 50 percent of the FPL across the states A very small proportion of lowincome students with dependent children receive TANF benefits: in 2011-12, among students with children under 50 percent of the FPL, only 7.4 percent received TANF benefits.

(Kassabian, Whitesell and Huber 2012). A very small proportion of low-income students with dependent children receive TANF benefits: in 2011-12, among students with children under 50

percent of the FPL, only 7.4 percent received TANF benefits.<sup>13</sup> Access to TANF can be difficult, due to onerous application and eligibility determination processes, lack of transportation, and inconvenient appointment times (Waters Boots 2010), and because student parents in many states need to work, to meet TANF work requirements, and few states encourage college attendance as an approved work activity (Center for Postsecondary and Economic Success 2013).

Receipt of Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), Women, Infants and Children (WIC), and Free and Reduced Price Lunch benefits is more common among low-income students than is TANF receipt. An IWPR analysis showed that approximately one in four students (25.1 percent) below the income maximum for SNAP (130 percent of FPL) receive the benefits, and among student parents at 130 percent of FPL or below, 40.2 percent receive SNAP. Income maximums for Free and Reduced Price Lunch and WIC both fall at 185 percent of FPL.<sup>14</sup> Among student parents at this income level, 17 percent receive Free or Reduced Price Lunch for their children, and 7.2 percent receive WIC, and among those with children under five, 21.7 percent receive WIC benefits.<sup>15</sup> There are no work requirements for WIC or Free and Reduced Price Lunch and the income maximum for each are higher than for TANF qualification (Kassabian, Whitesell and Huber 2012). SNAP has less stringent work requirements than TANF, and students do not have to meet the work requirement for SNAP if they already receive TANF, have children under six years of age, or participate in a work-study program (USDA 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Ibid.

### Time and College Affordability Among Low-Income Students

Time must factor into a consideration of college affordability, because if students do not receive sufficient financial aid, they must work, and because both work and family obligations can create time pressure that affects student success. Independent students, a group largely made up of low-income students, students of color and student parents, must often work to bridge the gap between financial aid and the costs of school and daily living expenses. Independent students are roughly three times more likely than dependent students to work full-time in addition to taking classes: 33 percent of independent students worked 40 hours or more a week, compared with only 10 percent of dependent students (Figure 6).

## Figure 6: Proportion of Undergraduate Students Who Work 40 or More Hours per Week by Dependency Status, 2011-12



Source: IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

High rates of work among independent students are associated with lower intensity college enrollment. Independent students are twice as likely as dependent students to be enrolled in school part-time (44 percent of independent students attend school part-time, compared with only 19 percent of dependent students (Figure 7).

Figure 7: Attendance Intensity Among Undergraduate Students by Dependency Status



Source: IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

While it is not uncommon for college students, across income levels, to work for pay, lowincome students are more likely to work out of necessity. According to the 2009 Beginning Postsecondary Longitudinal Study, a large majority of low-income students (64.2 percent) who worked did so to pay for living expenses (Figure 8).



Figure 8: Reason for Work among Undergraduate Students\* by Income Level,\*\* 2009

\*Population includes individuals who identify as working while studying; not those who identify as studying while working.

\*\* Low-income is at or below 200% of the Federal Poverty Level (FPL), middle-income is defined as between 201 percent and 500 percent of the FPL, and high-income is above 500 percent of the FPL.

Source: IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2003-04 Beginning Postsecondary Students Longitudinal Study, Second Follow-up (BPS:04/09).

Black and American Indian or Alaska Native students are more likely than students of other racial/ethnic backgrounds to work full-time (Figure 9). Nearly 23 percent of black and American Indian or Alaska Native students worked 40 hours or more per week while taking classes during the 2011-12 school year. Asian students were least likely to work 40 or more hours (14.3 percent of Asian students worked full time).<sup>16</sup>



# Figure 9: Hours Worked per Week Among Undergraduate Students by Race/Ethnicity

Source: IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

Community college students and for-profit students are more likely to work than students in any other postsecondary education setting. Twenty-six percent of students at public two-year schools and 31 percent of students at for-profit schools worked 40 hours or more during the 2011-12 school year, compared with 15 percent of students in both private and public four-year Baccalaureate programs (Figure 10).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

## Figure 10: Hours Worked per Week Among Undergraduate Students, by Institution Type



Source: IWPR analysis of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

More than six in ten student parents work 30 hours a week or more (61.4 percent; Huelsman and Engle 2013) and 29 percent of student parents are enrolled in school less than half-time (i.e. taking fewer than two courses) for at least one month out of the school year. These enrollment patterns endanger student-parents' eligibility for financial aid that is tied to school credit hours, as well as their potential to complete school on time or at (Huelsman and Engle 2013).

In a study using data from the National Longitudinal Survey of the High School Class of 1972 and the National Educational Longitudinal Study (1992 cohort), Bound, Lovenheim, and Turner (2007) examined increasing work hours for students in relation to increasing time to degree and decreasing rates of completion. The authors found a substantial increase in average weekly hours worked by college students from 1972 to 1992 (average work hours rose by 7.8 hours for the full sample), and concluded that these increases contributed to increase in time to degree and reduced completion rates, because students had less time available to them to devote to school. Johnson and Rochkind (2009), in a nationally representative survey of more than 600 adult community college students (aged 22-30) who left school without completing a degree, found that the difficulty of working long hours while attending school was the number one reason cited for non-completion.

The challenge of working while juggling classes and studying can be exacerbated by unpredictable work schedules. Students often hold low-paid hourly positions (Orozco and Cauthen 2009) characterized by inflexible work schedules, hours that vary considerably depending on business demand, and employers who change work schedules (requiring students to come in or go home without warning) even after they have been set (Lambert, Halye-Lock, and Henly 2012). The potential for unplanned schedule changes, combined with the general inability to reschedule work hours, can pose problems for students whose days revolve around rigid class schedules and considerable study obligations.

#### **Time Spent on Dependent Care**

Students with children have considerable dependent care obligations (Miller, Gault, and Thorman 2011) that stretch both their time and their money. Single student mothers spend large amounts of time caring for children, and are twice as likely as student fathers to spend at least 30 hours per week caring for children (more than 60 percent of student mothers spend 30 hours or more caring for dependents each week (Figure 11).

#### Figure 11: Full-Time Activities (30 Hours or More per Week) of Single Parents Attending Community College



Source: Data on school attendance patterns and work hours derived from IWPR analysis of National Postsecondary Student Aid Study, 2008 undergraduate cohort. Data on time spent caring for dependents was calculated by IWPR from the 2008 Community College Survey of Student Engagement.

Given the large amounts of time that single student parents spend both working and caring for

"Being a student and a parent are difficult. You have children competing for your attention while you try to concentrate on school... Time is a luxury that most parents do not have." children, it is hardly surprising that they are less likely to complete college within six years than married parents and independent students without children and. Fifty-six percent of single parents who enrolled in postsecondary education in 2003/2004 had left without a degree or certificate after six years. An IWPR survey of current and former student parents who received welfare while in school found that the most common challenge reported by respondents was finding time to study (70.7 percent), followed closely by meeting financial obligations (69.6 percent; Jones-DeWeever and Gault 2006). Time spent caring for children among student parents might be reduced with greater access to affordable child care. On-campus child care is both scarce and unaffordable for student parents, and the availability of on-campus child care has declined over time (Figure 12), especially at community colleges, where a large number of student parents are enrolled (Miller, Gault, and Thorman 2011). An IWPR analysis found that in 2010, the number of campus child care slots served only five percent of total student parent need for child care in 2010.<sup>17</sup>





Source: IWPR calculations, Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System. Gunn-Wright and Gault. 2013. *Improving Outcomes for Marginalized Girls in the Secondary Education and Workforce Development Systems.* 

Child care is expensive in addition to being difficult to find. In 2013, 19 states had wait lists or had frozen their intake for child care subsidies (Schulman and Blank 2013), with wait times ranging from 90 days to two years (Miller, Gault, and Thorman 2011). The cost of full-time child care ranges from \$3,900 to \$15,000 a year depending on location, quality, and a child's age (Child Care Aware of America 2012). These costs can make up approximately 25 percent of expenditures for a family of three (Wider Opportunities for Women 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> IWPR analysis utilizing data from the National Postsecondary Student Aid Survey, Department of Education enrollment figures, IWPR NCCCC Member Survey, and the 2010 Current Population Survey.

### Differential College Outcomes by Gender, Race, and Ethnicity

The lifelong economic rewards of higher education are well established (Hartmann and Hayes 2013; Carnevale, Rose, and Cheah 2011), but, the outcomes of college, in terms of completion rates and earnings, vary substantially by gender, race, and ethnicity, and dependent/independent student status. For example, dependent, students are substantially more likely than independent students to receive a degree or certificate within six years. Among students with children who had enrolled in college in 2003/2004, 52.2 percent (and 56 of single student parents) had left school with no degree or certificate by 2008/2009, compared with 50.9 percent of independent students without children, and 29 percent of dependent students.<sup>18</sup>

While women overall are more likely than men to complete postsecondary education, women's racial ethnic background is strongly associated with their rates of completion. White and Asian women, for example, are much more likely than black and Hispanic women to complete a degree or certificate within 6 years of enrolling in college (79.6 percent of Asian women, 68.3 percent of white women, 58.6 percent of Latinas, and 57.2 percent of black women, receive a degree or certificate after six years).<sup>19</sup>

Women and most communities of color also earn less than white and Asian men postgraduation. Women with bachelors' degrees working full-time and full-year earned only 73 percent of what comparable men earned in 2009-2011, and this ratio has remained essentially unchanged since 1999 (Figure 13). A Georgetown University study reports similar trends, finding that female bachelor's degree holders earn over \$650,000 less, over the course of their careers, than men with the same degree (Carnevale, Rose, and Cheah 2011).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2003-04 Beginning Postsecondary Students Longitudinal Study, Second Follow-up (BPS:04/09).
<sup>19</sup> Ibid.



## Figure 13: Women's Earnings as a Percentage of Men's for All Full-Time, Full-Year Bachelor's Degree Holders, 1979-2011

Source: IWPR analysis of data from Decennial Censuses (1980, 1990, and 2000) and American Community Surveys (2009-2011), Integrated Public Use Microdata Series (IPUMS, version 5.0).

Even among recent B.A. graduates, men earn more than women who work full-time, full year. In 2011, black women with B.A.s earned 91.1 percent, Hispanic women earned 87.5 percent, and white women earned 80.0 percent of what their male counterparts earned (Figure 16).



#### Figure 14: Full-Time, Full-Year Women's Earnings as a Percentage of Comparable Men's Earnings for Bachelor's Degree Holders Ages 25-34, 1980-2011.

Source: IWPR analysis of data from Decennial Censuses (1980, 1990, and 2000) and American Community Surveys (2009-2011), Integrated Public Use Microdata Series (IPUMS, version 5.0).

The gender wage gap persists among all racial/ethnic groups and at all education levels. For fulltime, full-year bachelor's degree holders, black men earn almost \$6,000 more per year than black women, Asian and Pacific Islander men earn over \$10,000 more than their female counterparts, and Hispanic men earn nearly \$8,800 more than comparable women (Figure 15). White women with a bachelor's degree have higher median earnings than women of all other racial/ethnic groups except for Asian and Pacific Islander women (\$48,993 compared with \$51,872, respectively), but still less than comparable white men (\$69,407), who unsurprisingly make more than men and women of any other racial/ethnic background (Figure 15).



# Figure 15: Median Earnings for Full-Time, Full-Year Workers Ages 25 and Older with a Bachelor's Degree by Gender and Race/Ethnicity, 2009-2011

Source: IWPR analysis of data from the American Community Surveys (2009-2011), Integrated Public Use Microdata Series (IPUMS, version 5.0).

Both black and Hispanic full-time, full-year workers with B.A.s earn only 80.0 percent of what comparable white workers earn (Figure 16). Over the course of a lifetime, black workers with a B.A. earn 20 percent less than white workers with equivalent degrees, on average (Carnevale, Rose, and Cheah 2011).





Source: IWPR analysis of data from Decennial Censuses (1980, 1990, and 2000) and American Community Surveys (2009-2011), Integrated Public Use Microdata Series (IPUMS, version 5.0).

Workers of color need more education to reach earnings levels comparable to those received by white workers. Black workers must have a bachelor's degree for their median earnings to equal those of a white worker with an associate's degree, and a master's degree to equal those of white and Asian bachelor's degree holders (Figure 17). Black workers must have a bachelor's degree for their median earnings to equal those of a white worker with an associate's degree, and a master's degree to equal those of white and Asian bachelor's degree



## Figure 17: Median Earnings by Degree and Race/Ethnicity for Full-Time, Full-Year Workers Ages 25 and Older, 2011

Source: IWPR analysis of data from Decennial Censuses (1980, 1990, and 2000) and American Community Surveys (2009-2011), Integrated Public Use Microdata Series (IPUMS, version 5.0).

Differences in major and occupation play a strong role (but certainly not the only role) in racial/ethnic and gender differences in earnings after college in addition to discrimination in hiring and pay. Women and students of color are often concentrated in fields with relatively low wages, whereas men and white students are more concentrated in higher paying fields such as those in Science Technology, Engineering, and Math (STEM). BA degrees in STEM fields, for example, typically lead to relatively high earnings, (such as in chemical engineering, which has median earnings of \$86,000 per year) compared with BA's in education (\$42,000 per year) or social work (\$39,000) (see Figure 18; Carnevale, Strohl, and Melton 2011).

## Figure 18: Median Earnings by Major for Full-Time, Full-Year Workers with a Bachelor's Degree

Majors that Earn the Most	Median Earnings	Majors that Earn the Least	Median Earnings
Petroleum Engineering	\$120,000	Counseling Psychology	\$29,000
Pharmaceutical Sciences and Administration	\$105,000	Early Childhood Education	\$36,000
Mathematics and Computer Science	\$98,000	Theology and Religious Vocations	\$38,000
Aerospace Engineering	\$87,000	Human Services and Community Organizations	\$38,000
Chemical Engineering	\$86,000	Social Work	\$39,000

Source: Carnevale, Strohl and Melton. 2011. What's It Worth? The Economic Value of College Majors. Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce.

Women are less likely than men to major in STEM fields, regardless of racial/ethnic background (Figure 19). Men at the associate's degree level, for example, have two STEM fields among their top five most common majors ("computer and information sciences and support services" and "engineering technologies and technicians"). These two STEM majors appear in the top five most common degrees for men of every major racial/ethnic group, whereas no STEM fields are among the top five majors for women of any major racial/ethnic group (U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics 2009).

## Figure 19: Five Most Common Associate's Degrees for Women and Men by Race/Ethnicity and Gender, 2008-2009

		ST	EM			Non-STEM				
ASSO DEG	CIATE'S GREES	Engineer- ing Techno-	Compu- ter & Informa-	Liberal Arts & Sciences,	Business, Manage- ment, Marketing	Health Profes- sions & Belated	Security & Pro- tective	Educa- tion	Multi/ Interdi- sciplin-	Visual & Perfor- ming
AWA	ARDED 'N:	Techni- cians	Sciences & Support Services	Studies, Humani- ties	Related Support Services	Clinical Sciences	Services		Studies	Arts
MEN	White	V	√	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	V				
	Asian	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				
	Black	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				
	Latino	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				
WOMEN	White			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		
	Asian			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
	Black			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		
	Latina			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	

Note: Checkmark indicates that degree is among the top five for that sex and racial/ethnic group. Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS), Fall 2009, Completions component. In 2010, 56.7 percent of all students enrolled in two-year and four-year institutions were women (National Science Foundation 2013), but only 33.3 percent of female students entering college that year intended to major in science and engineering majors, compared with 44.1 percent of male students (National Science Foundation 2013). Among all racial/ethnic groups, American Indians were least likely to say that they intended to major in a science or engineering field (23.6 percent; Figure 20).

## Figure 20: Intentions of Freshmen at All Institutions to Major in Science and Engineering Fields by Race/Ethnicity and Gender, 2010



Source: IWPR analysis of Higher Education Research Institute, University of California at Los Angeles, special tabulations (2011) of the Survey of the American Freshman.

Women's underrepresentation in STEM programs at community colleges, is a significant concern since a large proportion of women pursue postsecondary degrees at community colleges, and more women than men in four-year colleges or graduate programs began their scientific careers at the community college level (Starobin and Laanan 2008). While the number of women graduating with associate's degrees grew rapidly between 2001 and 2010, the proportion of associate's degrees in STEM fields (including social sciences) received by women declined from 45.3 percent to 41.4 percent (Figure 21).<sup>20</sup> Only 15 percent of employed women with bachelor's degrees, compared with 32 percent of men, worked in science and engineering occupations.<sup>21</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> IWPR analysis of the Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System, Completions Survey, 2001–10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> IWPR analysis of Scientists and Engineers Statistical Data System (SESTAT), 2010.



Figure 21: Proportion of Associates Degrees Awarded to Men and Women by Field,\* 2001-2010

\*Science and engineering fields include the social sciences. Source: National Science Foundation, National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics, special tabulations of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System, Completions Survey, 2001–10.

Even when women and students of color pursue majors that pay relatively well, they tend to earn less than their white and male counterparts. Among students who earn bachelor's degrees in "business" (a group of majors that includes, for example, accounting, business economics, finance, and marketing) and work full-time, full-year, white workers earn a median of \$63,000 per year, Asian workers earn \$51,000, Hispanic workers earn \$48,000, and black workers earn only \$47,000 per year (Carenvale, Strohl and Melton 2011). ). Men with degrees in

"pharmaceutical sciences and administration" and "computer science" earn roughly \$10,000 more than women with the same degrees; with "chemical engineering" degrees, women's median earnings are \$20,000 less than men's (Carnevale, Strohl and Melton 2011).

Colleges and universities can play a much stronger role in diversifying access to high quality careers through more widespread implementation of promising evidence-based strategies. Such approaches include sectoral training initiatives and an array of interventions to diversify STEM education, many of which have been funded and evaluated by the National Colleges and universities can play a much stronger role in diversifying access to high quality careers through more widespread implementation of promising evidence-based strategies. Science Foundation (NSF). IWPR, for example, reviewed a set of promising programs and strategies that have been implemented at the community college level to improve women's access to STEM careers (Costello 2012). These strategies include provision of child care and other financial supports, recruitment strategies, counseling, advising and academic supports that take women's specific needs and concerns into account, and instructional practices that help to foster women's success. Similarly, NSF has funded numerous tools and evaluated interventions to increase participation in STEM among communities of color at all levels of higher education.

### **Considerations for Measuring Return on Investment to College for Low-Income Students**

#### The Economic Benefits and Opportunity Costs of Higher Education

Regardless of their economic backgrounds, adults who complete college enjoy strong returns on their investments, despite the high and rising costs of college.<sup>22</sup> Both quantitative and qualitative research unequivocally demonstrates the high value of postsecondary degrees and credentials. A woman with a bachelor's degree, for example, will earn roughly \$800,000 more over the course of her lifetime compared with a woman with only a high school diploma (Carnevale, Rose, and Cheah 2011).

Michael Greenstone and Adam Looney (2011) find that returns to college are very high compared with average return rates for other investments, like stocks (6.8 percent), bonds (2.9 percent), gold (2.3 percent), and housing (.4 percent; Greenstone and Looney 2011). The

"Sometimes I feel like giving up but I know that college is going to provide me with a brighter future. I'm just waiting on my destination." authors estimate that the average return on investment for a four-year degree is 15.2 percent per year. They report that college graduates earn an average of \$570,000 more, over a lifetime, than those with only high school diplomas (Greenstone and Looney 2011). They estimate opportunity costs of attending college at approximately \$102,000 for a four-year degree, and \$28,000 for a two-year degree. Pursuing a college degree instead of focusing exclusively on paid work means that students must delay or reduce their earnings from work, and often must take on debt, which can be especially burdensome for low-income students. For students with

children, these factors are compounded by sacrifices in time available to spend with children, high child care expenses, and often by concerns about food or housing security. Intense financial hardship can compromise potential student's ability to see college as a realistic or manageable investment.

College graduates have higher rates of employment, with all the concomitant benefits that it brings, throughout the lifespan. Today, the average American is working longer than in the past, and staying in the labor market past retirement age. Older workers with postsecondary education have higher rates of employment than those with a high school diploma or less (Hartmann and Hayes 2013). The greater likelihood of being employed and working longer among college graduates means that they will enjoy higher lifetime earnings, bringing substantial returns on education into old age (Hartmann and Hayes 2013). These returns are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> A 2011 study by the Pew Research Center found that tuition and fees for both public and private universities have roughly tripled since 1980 (Taylor et al. 2011). The median published price for attending a nonprofit four-year institution was \$11,093 for the 2013-1014 school year (Baum and Ma 2013).

enhanced by employment benefits experienced more often by workers with a postsecondary education. For example, college-educated workers are more likely to work for an employer who provides a pension plan: 65 percent of bachelor's degree holders and 73 percent of master's degree holders were offered pension plans in 2011 compared with only 52 percent of workers with only a high school diploma (Baum, Ma, and Payea 2013). Prolonged earnings and access to pensions strengthen individuals' abilities to build wealth for their own and their children's futures. A college degree can make it more likely for an individual to improve their overall socioeconomic standing: between 2000 and 2008, 31 percent of middle-class college graduates who attended a four-year institution moved to the top income quintile, compared with only 12 percent of those without an equivalent degree (Baum, Ma, and Payea 2013).

Those who have completed college tend to recognize the value of their investments: 86 percent of college graduates surveyed said that college had been a good investment for them, and 84 percent of enrolled students reported that they expected it to be a good investment (Taylor et al. 2011). Enrollees also expected that a higher degree would yield an earnings premium down the road, with respondents estimating increased earnings of \$20,000 a year from a bachelor's degree (Taylor et al. 2011). An IWPR

"I want to be able to support myself with a better paying job and become my own person, and college is the first step for me."

study found that student parents in California, despite facing significant challenges, including sacrificing time with children (72.8 percent) and paid employment and earnings (65.2 percent), overwhelmingly reported that postsecondary education had improved their lives. Degree holders also reported that, because of their educational attainment, their children were more likely to express a desire to go to college, make better grades, and improve their study habits, and they, as parents, were more likely to be involved with their children's educational development (Jones-DeWeever and Gault 2006).

Despite strong evidence for the positive returns to education, potential college students often question whether college is a realistic and worthwhile investment. A 2011 study by the Pew Research Center found that 75 percent of Americans think that college is not affordable, and 57 percent think that college provides only a fair or poor value for the money students spend (Taylor et al. 2011).

#### **Factors Affecting Return on Investment**

Choice of college and major both have important implications for earnings and return on investment (Gemici and Wiswall 2011). School competitiveness, whether an institution is public or private, nonprofit or for-profit, and the availability of financial aid can all play an important role in students' college outcomes and ultimate return on investment. The likelihood of completion increases with a school's selectivity, even when controlling for differences in student characteristics across schools with varying levels of selectivity (Pender et al. 2012). Less selective schools, while often displaying a lower sticker price than those on the opposite end of the spectrum, have fewer supports, monetary or otherwise, to help their students through their

college careers (Hoxby 2009). More selective schools tend to bring stronger returns on investment for students over the long-term (Hess et al. 2009; Sawhill and Owen 2013).

Hoxby and Avery (2013) have demonstrated that, despite greater potential for financial aid and support, high-achieving, low-income students do not apply to selective postsecondary institutions at the same rate as their high-achieving, high-income peers, choosing instead to attend less selective schools that they feel are more feasible financially (Hoxby and Avery 2013). Similarly, authors Carnevale and Strohl (2013) found that, of students with a high school grade point average higher than 3.5, more than 30 percent of black and Hispanic students attend community colleges, compared with 22 percent of white students. Research has also demonstrated that low-income students "undermatch," or choose a postsecondary institution for which they are overqualified academically, almost half the time, compared with their higher-income peers who do so only about one-third of the time (Smith, Pender, and Howell 2011).

As mentioned earlier, choice of major can have an enormous influence on annual and lifetime earnings, with careers in STEM fields among those bringing stronger returns to college (Carnevale, Strohl, and Melton 2011). On average, a computer scientist with a two-year degree will earn \$3 million in his or her lifetime (Carnevale, Rose, and Cheah 2011). Moving toward equality in the distribution of women and students of color in college majors will go a long way toward improving the return on investment for low-income students.

# Challenges to Students in Taking an Investment Approach to Education

The difficulty of assessing the potential return on investment of college, and of specific colleges in particular, often in the absence of adequate information, can make the selection process daunting for potential students and their families. As Long (2010) observes, potential consumers of postsecondary education are generally uninformed about the quality and ultimate cost of the college options that they are considering. Long (2010) suggests an expansion of institutional-level data collection based on more holistic measures of college value and affordability, including, for example, data on average aid given to low-income students, the amount of debt incurred by past students, and employment outcomes for both median income families and Pell grant recipients (Long 2010). Indicators of college experience and student success, like data on graduation rates and time to completion, disaggregated by student profiles (e.g. part-time versus full-time, independent versus dependent) and institutional characteristics (allowing comparisons among peer institutions), would also be valuable for evaluating school quality (Long 2010).

Economic insecurity may preclude adults' ability to invest in postsecondary education. For parents, attempting to balance work, school, studying, and family demands, without adequate financial or child care support, can lead to food insecurity, significant sleep deprivation, and sometimes crushing stress (Green 2013). College can become unaffordable if the financial and

time strain takes too great a toll on the health and well-being of a student and her or his family. Faced with the prospect or experience of this kind of strain, students may quite rationally choose to forego postsecondary education or to quit school mid-stream. While students at all income levels can experience stress, pressure, and competing demands with the college experience, for the lowest-income students, these pressures can create a level of toxicity that can make a return on investment calculation unfeasible. Rather than representing an expression of the well-documented human tendency to value smaller short-term gains over larger, longer-term rewards (see Ainslie 2001), dropping out of school, or failing to consider college, becomes a matter of mere survival. Significant public investments can help to eliminate sources of financial, socio-emotional, time, and physical pressures that create short-term, but undeniable, impediments to long-term educational, financial, and social rewards.

Sawady and Tescher (2008), through interviews with 27 residents of a low-to-moderate income neighborhoods, conclude that the limited and unstable nature of resources available to low-income individuals causes them to prioritize short-term needs over long-term investments. Long-term financial planning can be superseded by the urgent need to address immediate financial priorities (such as securing stable employment or housing; Sawady and Tescher 2008). Real-time financial strain can lead low-income students to enroll in institutions with relative low sticker price, but that also yield lower long-term benefits (Hoxby and Turner 2013; Hoxby and Avery 2013). Through this process, students from low-income families are at a greater risk of not capitalizing on college as a means of social mobility and economic security.

Low-income students are often less willing than higher income students to utilize loans and are less likely than higher income students to have access to loan counseling (Burdman 2005). Hispanic and Asian students are less likely than other students to borrow for college, and some research has shown that this can negatively impact completion rates (Cunningham and Santiago 2008). A study using data from the 2003-04 National Postsecondary Aid Survey and the 2004 and 2006 Beginning Postsecondary Students Survey found that for black and Hispanic students in particular, and to a lesser extent, white students, borrowing is associated with improved student persistence and completion (for Asian students, borrowing does not affect degree attainment; Cunningham and Santiago 2008). Some scholars have suggested a need to contextualize the term "debt averse," to acknowledge that students and families from lowincome communities may interpret information on financial aid differently than their higherincome peers, as they often have had different financial experiences that affect their interpretation of spending, saving, consumption, and investment (McDonough and Calderone 2006). In light of the fact that completion rates can be so low among the most financially challenged college students, and specifically single mothers, advice surrounding borrowing for college must be delivered with a solid understanding of how economic and family circumstances affect college completion. It can be argued that interventions like reinstating the summer Pell, or better targeting Pell grants to the neediest students, would do more for lowincome students than alleviating their discomfort with student loan debt.

Better access to information about quality college choices, and the financial resources that do exist, could make college a more manageable investment for more low-income students.

Although the Pell is not always adequate to make college comfortably accessible to all lowincome students, many eligible students are forgoing the opportunity to benefit from the substantial support that it can bring. For example, in 2007/ 2008, 42 percent of Pell grant eligible community college students did not file the FAFSA (McKinney and Novak 2013). Research finds that high-achieving low-income students often go into the college application process with little awareness of common application practices, such as applying to a mix of "peer," "reach," and "safety" schools, or of the institutional variations that can affect their success in college over time, like instructional resources or graduation rates (Hoxby and Turner 2013).

The limited information available to low-income students stems, in part, from their relative lack of contacts and networks with information to share about college choice, financing, and the application process (Grodsky and Jones 2007; Hoxby and Avery 2013; Gonzalez, Stoner, and Jovel 2003; Plank and Jordan 2001). Scholars have documented a knowledge divide across racial/ethnic and class lines, that restricts socioeconomically disadvantaged families' access to information on college and financial aid (Grodsky and Jones 2007; Horn, Chen, and Chapman 2003; Immerwahr 2003; Tomás Rivera Policy Institute 2004; Tornatzky, Cutler, and Lee 2002). High student-to-counselor ratios also limit low-income students' access to information (Parsad et al. 2003). Lack of access to economically and culturally valuable social ties are often described as a lack of social capital. Lin's network theory of social capital (2001) emphasizes the benefits associated with an individual's strong and weak social ties that serve as bridges to rich and heterogeneous networks of established connections and relationships (Flap 1991; Lin 2001). In an analysis of Lin's network theory of social capital, Martin, Simmons, and Yu (2013) explain how this is an effective way of accessing and mobilizing resources: social capital facilitates access to information, can affect decision-makers, offers desirable social credentials, and can legitimize an individual's identity and social recognition (Martin, Simmons, and Yu 2013).

#### **Bridging the Information Gap for Low-Income Students**

A number of interventions can help prepare low-income students and their families to make strong decisions about college. Increasing access to counseling at the high school and college level should be a top priority. Technological tools can help to raise consciousness about the long-term payoffs of college; the possibilities for financing help; "out-of-the-box," high value career choices; as well as the success and outcomes for students at different colleges. Existing technological tools would be especially valuable if those offering salary information for different jobs were refined to allow students to estimate the costs of their investments in education opportunity costs, and potential long-term gains. To ensure success, however, such tools should be accompanied with real-time counseling. They should be sensitive to, rather than avoid, gender and race/ethnicity considerations; the failure to take such considerations into account results in a misreading of the data. For example, a recent news article, reporting on wage data among students from different colleges across the United States, reported that graduates of women's colleges have worse employment outcomes, without acknowledging that

women across the labor market as a whole have worse employment outcomes, and without disaggregating data from mixed-sex schools (Stewart 2013).

Expanding access to help with the financial aid application process will also bring significant benefits for low-income students and their families. Bettinger, Long, and Oreopoulos (2009) found that offering free assistance in filing the FAFSA to families making less than \$45,000 a year and with family members between the ages of 15 and 30 who did not have bachelor's degree could make a significant impact on college enrollment. The study found that college enrollment increased by 8 percentage points (from 34 percent to 42 percent) for current or recently graduated high school seniors, and increased the likelihood of receiving federal grant aid by 10.6 percentage points for dependent students (Bettinger, Long, and Oreopoulos 2009). Among those who benefitted most from the intervention were independent low-income students who had never been to college: participating in the program nearly tripled FAFSA submissions for these students, from 16.1 percent to 42.8 percent (Bettinger, Long, and Oreopoulos 2009). In addition, Oreoupolous and Pretronijevic (2013) found that students who received help with the FAFSA were 25 percent more likely to enroll and stay enrolled in college.

### The Affordability of Higher Education for Society: Benefits for Two Generations and Beyond

.....

For society as a whole, investing in postsecondary education is affordable if the aggregate benefits outweigh the costs, such that public investments in college pay off in the long run. This payoff stems from the economic and social gains associated with successful college graduates, which benefit society at large by increasing earning potential, reducing the need for public assistance, increasing the tax base, and reducing inequality.

Only two percent of bachelor's degree holders ages 25 and older received Supplemental Nutritional Assistance (SNAP) in 2011 compared with 12 percent of high school graduates (Baum, Ma, and Payea 2013). College graduates also contribute to the tax base: workers with a bachelor's degree (comprising 25 percent of all full-time, full-year workers) pay \$5,000 more in taxes each year than those with high school diplomas only (comprising 27 percent of full-time, full-year workers; Baum, Ma, and Payea 2013). A more highly educated population also has the potential to reduce health care costs, as college graduates are more likely to have employer-based health insurance and see better health outcomes in their children (e.g. obesity) and practice healthier habits (e.g. regular exercise) over time, compared with less-educated adults (Baum, Ma, and Payea 2013).

College degrees bring important multigenerational benefits that can improve children's economic, educational, and social outcomes, and enhance a family's long-term prospects for socioeconomic mobility (Attewell and Lavin 2007; Magnusen 2007). A mother's educational attainment, for example, significantly predicts of whether her child goes to college. In Attewell and Lavin's (2007) analysis of the City University of New York Longitudinal Study, which

"The choice to attend college is my way of showing my son how important education is and what one can accomplish when they put their mind to it. Actions speak louder than words. I choose to lead by example." surveyed female college entrants in the early 1970s and conducted follow-up surveys with them and their children in 2000, the children of mothers who were in the top quartile of their high school class were 12 percent more likely to go to college than children whose mothers who were less academically successful in high school (Attewell and Lavin 2007). The same analysis showed that the socioeconomic and educational background of multiple generations can affect a child's educational success. After adjusting for the overlapping effects of race, grandparents' income and educational attainment, and mothers' high school success, 36.9 percent of children with high-income grandparents and 33.1 percent of those with grandparents who have a college degree performed well in high school compared with 22.5 and 30.4 percent of their counterparts (Attewell and Lavin 2007). Another analysis by the same authors of the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth (1979-2000) Mother-Child Sample showed that having a bachelor's degree influences the likelihood of children going to college, and has significant positive effects on five of seven children's educational outcomes after controlling for the mother's characteristics that could influence these outcomes simultaneously (e.g. mother's socioeconomic status, IQ, and high school preparation; Attwell and Lavin 2007). Supporting low-income students' educational attainment can help ensure children's success and promote social mobility across generations (Attwell and Lavin 2007).

### **Recommendations: Steps Toward Improving**

### **Affordability and Returns on Investment**

.....

Create systems and tools to help women and students of color select majors that prepare them for high paying careers.

• Implement evidence-based, campus-wide initiatives to increase gender and racial/ethnic diversity in STEM careers, including targeted recruitment, curriculum review, employer engagement, and provision of support services for parents. The Federal government can develop incentives to pursue such efforts through existing, expanded, or new funding streams.

.....

- Encourage or require campuses to track progress in diminishing racial/ethnic and sex segregation in the attainment of high quality degrees as a part of growing efforts to track institutional effectiveness. Equity in outcomes must become a more central component of discussions of institutional effectiveness.
- Train career counselors and educators in techniques to help students think more broadly about potential careers and to consider high-paying, but potentially unfamiliar, careers.
- As a part of efforts to develop return on investment calculators, build in features that encourage women students, and students of color to "try on" high-paying, high-demand careers that may be unfamiliar or incongruent with stereotyped gender roles.
- Shift federal and state systems of financial aid to more accurately and completely account for student financial need, to help apportion more aid to students who need it the most.
  - Shift the formula for calculating the Expected Family Contribution (EFC) to allow for a negative EFC with no lower boundary.
  - Modify estimated costs of living in the EFC calculation so that they are based on a self-sufficiency standard rather than a percentage of the official poverty level.
  - Consider increases to Pell for students with the least available resources to pay for college (while maintaining existing levels of support).
- Develop more student and campus supports that acknowledge the multiple demands in students' lives, which often include substantial work and care-giving obligations. Move toward the development of family friendly campus support and financial aid policies. This would include:
  - Building commitment among postsecondary education policy and institutional leaders to improve access to child care for student parents as a national priority.
    - Federal agencies can continue to take an integrated approach toward greater coordination of postsecondary education and early childhood policy.

- Increased funding for the Federal Child Care Access Means Parents in School program is long overdue (Miller, Thorman, and Gault 2012).
  Colleges and universities can draw on successful child care program and support models in operation around the country (Boressoff 2013, 2012).
- Expand efforts to help students access publically provided benefits, such as the Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC), TANF, WIC, and child care subsidies.
  - Examples of existing programs that help low-income students access public benefits include Centers for Working Families, Benefits Access for College Completion, and Single Stop.
- Develop more targeted scholarships and campus supports for the many students with dependent care obligations, such as inclusive campus policies, programs to increase social connectedness and reduce isolation, health supports, and single-parent housing, in addition to child care support. Performance-based scholarships have been successfully implemented with low-income student parents (Patel et al. 2013).

Approaching affordability interventions with an awareness of the role of gender and race in students' ability to afford college, the decisions they make, and the value they gain from higher education, will help individuals, families, and policy makers make wiser investments in education. Ideally, any interventions to shift institutional and consumer knowledge and incentives should be examined from the perspectives of how they will affect women and communities of color, populations that have disproportionate time constraints, dependent care obligations, and poorer labor market outcomes at all educational levels.

### References

Ainslie, George. 2001. The Breakdown of Will. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.

Attewell, Paul, and David E. Lavin. 2007. *Passing the Torch: Does Higher Education for the Disadvantaged Pay Off Across the Generations*? New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation (March). <https://www.russellsage.org/publications/passing-torch> (accessed February 6, 2014).

Baum, Sandy and Jennifer Ma. 2013. *Trends in College Pricing*. New York, NY: The College Board. <a href="https://trends.collegeboard.org/sites/default/files/college-pricing-2013-full-report.pdf">https://trends.collegeboard.org/sites/default/files/college-pricing-2013-full-report.pdf</a>> (accessed March 18, 2014).

Baum, Sandy, Jennifer Ma, and Kathleen Payea. 2013. *Education Pays: The Benefits of Higher Education for Individuals and Society*. New York, NY: The College Board. <a href="http://trends.collegeboard.org/sites/default/files/education-pays-2013-full-report.pdf">http://trends.collegeboard.org/sites/default/files/education-pays-2013-full-report.pdf</a> (accessed January 30, 2014).

Bettinger, Eric, Bridget Long and Phillip Oreopoulos. 2009. *Increasing Postsecondary Enrollment among Low-Income Families: A Project to Improve Access to College Information and Financial Aid THE FAFSA H&R BLOCK EXPERIMENT*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University (January). <a href="http://www.aypf.org/documents/NewFAFSAHRBlock-preferreddescription.pdf">http://www.aypf.org/documents/NewFAFSAHRBlock-preferreddescription.pdf</a>> (accessed February 5, 2014).

Boressoff, Todd. 2013. *Tools for Student Parent Success: Financing Child Care for College Student Success*. Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research.

Boressoff, Todd. 2012. *Tools for Student Parent Success: Varieties of Campus Child Care.* Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research.

Bound, John, Michael Lovenheim, and Sarah Turner. 2007. Understanding the Decrease in College Completion Rates and the Increased Time to Baccalaureate Degree. Ann Arbor, MI: Population Studies Center (November). <http://www.psc.isr.umich.edu/pubs/pdf/rr07-626.pdf> (accessed March 19, 2014).

Burdman, Pamela. 2005. *The Student Dilemma: Debt Aversion as a Barrier to College Access.* Berkeley: Project on Student Debt, The Institute for College Access and Success, Inc. (September). <http://projectonstudentdebt.org/files/pub/DebtDilemma.pdf> (accessed February 4, 2014). Carnevale, Anthony and Jeff Strohl. 2013. *Separate and Unequal: How Higher Education Reinforces the intergeneration Reproduction of White Privilege*. Washington, DC: Georgetown University, Center on Education and the Workforce (July). <http://cew.georgetown.edu/separateandunequal> (accessed February 14, 2014).

Carnevale, Anthony, Stephen J. Rose, and Ban Cheah. 2011. *The College Payoff: Education, Occupations, Lifetime Earnings.* Washington, DC: Georgetown University, Center on Education and the Workforce. <a href="http://www9.georgetown.edu/grad/gppi/hpi/cew/pdfs/collegepayoff-complete.pdf">http://www9.georgetown.edu/grad/gppi/hpi/cew/pdfs/collegepayoff-complete.pdf</a>> (accessed February 14, 2014).

Carnevale, Anthony, Jeff Strohl and Michelle Melton. 2011. *What's It Worth? The Economic Value of College Majors*. Washington, DC: Georgetown University, Center on Education and the Workforce (May). <a href="http://www9.georgetown.edu/grad/gppi/hpi/cew/pdfs/whatsitworth-complete.pdf">http://www9.georgetown.edu/grad/gppi/hpi/cew/pdfs/whatsitworth-complete.pdf</a>> (accessed February 5, 2014).

Center for Postsecondary and Economic Success. 2013. Funding Career Pathways and Career Pathway Bridges. Washington, DC: Center for Postsecondary and Economic Success at CLASP (March). <a href="http://www.clasp.org/resources-and-publications/publication-1/CPToolkit2012\_V1R4.pdf">http://www.clasp.org/resources-and-publications/publication-1/CPToolkit2012\_V1R4.pdf</a> (accessed April 4, 2014).

Child Care Aware of America. 2012. *Parents and the High Cost of Child Care.* Arlington: Child Care Aware of America.

<http://www.naccrra.org/sites/default/files/default\_site\_pages/2012/cost\_report\_2012\_final\_081012 \_0.pdf> (accessed April 2, 2014).

Costello, Cynthia. 2012. *Increasing Opportunities for Low-Income Women and Student Parents in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Math at Community Colleges.* Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research.

Cunningham, Alisa F., and Deborah Santiago. 2008. *Student Aversion To Borrowing: Who Borrows and Who Doesn't?* Washington, DC: Institute for Higher Education Policy (December). <http://www.ihep.org/assets/files/publications/s-z/studentaversiontoborrowing.pdf> (accessed February 14, 2014).

Flap, Henk D. 1991. "Social Capital in the Reproduction of Inequality." *Comparative Sociology of Family, Health and Education*, 20 (6): 179–202.

Gemici, Ahu and Matthew Wiswall. 2011. *Evolution of Gender Differences in Post-Secondary Human Capital Investments: College Majors*. New York, NY: New York University, Institute for Education and Social Policy (July).

<http://steinhardt.nyu.edu/scmsAdmin/media/users/lah431/Working\_Paper\_03-11.pdf> (accessed February 5, 2014). Gunn-Wright, Rhiana and Gault, Barbara. 2013. "Improving Outcomes for Marginalized Girls in the Secondary Education and Workforce Development Systems." *Georgetown Journal of Poverty Law and Policy* 20 (2): 351-371.

Gonzalez, Kenneth, Carla Stoner and Jennifer Jovel. 2003. "Examining the role of social capital in access to college for Latinas: Toward a college opportunity framework." *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education* 2 (2): 146–147.

Green, Autumn. 2013. *Babies, Books, and Bootstraps: Low-Income Mothers, Material Hardship, Role Strain and the Quest For Higher Education*. (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3568106).

Greenstone, Michael and Adam Looney. 2011. *Where is the Best Place to Invest \$102,000 – In Stocks, Bonds, or a College Degree?* Washington, DC: The Hamilton Project at Brookings (March).

<http://www.hamiltonproject.org/papers/where\_is\_the\_best\_place\_to\_invest\_102000\_--\_in\_stocks\_bonds\_or\_a\_colle/> (accessed October 2, 2013).

Grodsky, Eric and Melanie Jones. 2007. "Real and Imagined Barriers to College Entry: Perceptions of Cost." *Social Science Research* 36 (2): 745-766.

Hartmann, Heidi and Jeff Hayes. 2013. *How Education Pays Off for Older Americans*. Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research.

Hess, Frederick M., Mark Schneider, Kevin Carey, and Andrew P. Kelly. 2009. *Diplomas and Dropouts: Which Colleges Actually Graduate Their Students (and Which Don't).* Washington, DC: American Enterprise Institute for Public Policy Research (June). <http://www.aei.org/files/2009/06/03/Diplomas%20and%20Dropouts%20final.pdf> (accessed February 6, 2014).

Higher Education Research Institute, University of California at Los Angeles, 2011 Survey of the American Freshman. <a href="http://www.heri.ucla.edu/tfsPublications.php">http://www.heri.ucla.edu/tfsPublications.php</a> (accessed February 4, 2014).

Horn, Laura, Xianglei Chen, and Chris Chapman. 2003. *Getting Ready to Pay for College: What Students and Their Parents Know About the Cost of College Tuition and What They are Doing to Find Out*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences (September).<http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2003/2003030.pdf> (accessed February 4, 2014).

Hoxby, Caroline. 2009. "The Changing Selectivity of American Colleges." Nashville, TN: *The Journal of Economic Perspectives* (Fall), 23(4): 95-118.

Hoxby, Caroline and Christopher Avery. 2013. "'The Missing 'One-Offs:' The Hidden Supply of High Achieving, Low-Income Students." Washington, DC: Brookings Institute, Brookings Papers on Economic Activity (Spring): 1-65.

<http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/projects/bpea/spring%202013/2013a\_hoxby.pdf> (accessed February 3, 2014).

Hoxby, Caroline and Sarah Turner. 2013. *Informing Students about their College Options*. Washington DC: The Hamilton Project at Brookings (June). <http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/research/files/papers/2013/06/26%20expanding%20coll ege%20opportunity%20hoxby%20turner/thp\_hoxbyturner\_final.pdf> (accessed February 3, 2014).

Huelsman, Mark and Engle, Jennifer. 2013. "Student Parents and Financial Aid." Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research Working Paper.

Immerwahr, John. 2003. With Diploma in Hand: Hispanic High School Seniors Talk about Their Future. San Jose, CA: National Center for Public Policy and Higher Education (June). <a href="http://www.highereducation.org/reports/hispanic/hispanic.pdf">http://www.highereducation.org/reports/hispanic/hispanic.pdf</a>> (accessed February 4, 2014).

Institute for Women's Policy Research. 2013. "Public Benefits Receipt among College Students and its Relationship to College Persistence and Completion." Unpublished Report to the Ford Foundation. Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research.

Institute for Women's Policy Research and Women's Fund of Mississippi, 2014. Data from the Survey of Mississippi Women in Community Colleges (survey report in progress). Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research. Please contact IWPR for more information on the survey data.

Johnson, Jean and Jon Rochkind. 2009. *With Their Whole Lives Ahead of Them: Myths and Realities About Why So Many Students Fail to Finish College*. New York, NY: Public Agenda, prepared for the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation.

<http://www.publicagenda.org/files/theirwholelivesaheadofthem.pdf> (accessed February 5, 2014).

Jones-DeWeever, Avis A., and Barbara Gault. 2006. *Resilient and Reaching for More: Challenges and Benefits of Higher Education for Welfare Participants and their Children*. Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research.

Kassabian, David, Anne Whitesell and Erika Huber. 2012. *Welfare Rules Databook: State TANF Policies as of July 2011*. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute (August) <http://anfdata.urban.org/databooks/Welfare%20Rules%20Databook%202011\_final%20text.p df> (accessed December 4, 2012).

Lambert, Susan J., Anna Haley-Lock, and Julia R. Henly. 2012. "Schedule Flexibility in Hourly Jobs: Unanticipated Consequences and Promising Directions." *Community, Work and Family* 15 (3): 293-315.

Lareau, Annette and Erin M. Horvat. 1999. "Moments of Social Inclusion and Exclusion: Race, Class, and Cultural Capital in Family-School Relationships." *Sociology of Education*, 72 (1): 37-53.

Lin, Nan. 2001. *Social Capital: A Theory of Social Structure and Action*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Long, Bridget T. 2010. *Grading Higher Education: Giving Consumers the Information They Need*. Washington, DC: The Hamilton Project at Brookings (December). <http://www.hamiltonproject.org/files/downloads\_and\_links/lr\_Brookings\_LongPaper\_2.pdf> (Accessed October 9, 2013).

Magnusen, Katherine. 2007. "Maternal education and children's academic achievement during middle childhood." *Developmental Psychology* 46 (2): 1497-1512.

Martin, Julie, Denise Simmons, and Shirley Yu. 2013. "The Role of Social Capital in the Experiences of Hispanic Women Engineering Majors." *Journal of Engineering Education*, 102 (2): 227–243.

McDonough, Patricia M., and Shannon Calderone. 2006. "The Meaning of Money: Perceptual Differences between College Counselors and Low-Income Families About College Costs and Financial Aid." *American Behavioral Scientist* 49 (August): 1703-1718.

McKinney, Lyle and Heather Novak. 2013. "The Relationship between FAFSA Filing and Persistence Among First-Year Community College Students." *Community College Review* 41(1): 63-85.

Miller, Kevin. 2012. *Single Student Parents Face Financial Difficulties, Debt, Without Adequate Aid.* Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research.

Miller, Kevin, Barbara Gault, and Abby Thorman. 2011. *Improving Childcare Access to Promote Postsecondary Success Among Low-Income Parents*. Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research.

National Science Foundation. 2013. *Women, Minorities, and Persons with Disabilities in Science and Engineering: 2013*. Special Report NSF 13-304. Arlington, VA: National Science Foundation, National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics. <a href="http://www.nsf.gov/statistics/wmpd/">http://www.nsf.gov/statistics/wmpd/</a> (accessed January 8, 2014).

National Science Foundation, National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics, special tabulations of U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System, Completions Survey, 2001–10.

Oreopoulos, Philip, and Uros Petronijevic. 2013. "Making College Worth It: A Review to the Returns of Higher Education." Princeton, NJ: The Future of Children, *Postsecondary Education in the United States* 23 (1): 41-65.

<http://futureofchildren.org/futureofchildren/publications/docs/23\_01\_03.pdf> (accessed October 7, 2013).

Orozco, Viany and Nancy Cauthen. 2009. *Work Less, Study More & Succeed: How Financial Supports Can Improve Postsecondary Success.* New York City, NY: Demos (September). <a href="http://www.demos.org/sites/default/files/publications/WorkLessStudyMore\_Demos.pdf">http://www.demos.org/sites/default/files/publications/WorkLessStudyMore\_Demos.pdf</a> (accessed February 6, 2014).

Parsad, Basmat, Debbie Alexander, Elizabeth Farris, Hudson, Lisa, and Greene, Bernard. 2003. *High School Guidance Counselin.* 

(NCES 2003-015). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. <a href="http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/ERIC-ED480381/pdf/ERIC-ED480381.pdf">http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/ERIC-ED480381/pdf/ERIC-ED480381.pdf</a> (accessed February 4, 2014).

Patel, Reshma, Lashawn Richburg-Hayes, Elijah de la Campa, and Timothy Rudd. 2013. *Performance-Based Scholarships: What Have We Learned?* New York, NY: MDRC (August). <http://www.mdrc.org/publication/performance-based-scholarships-what-have-we-learned> (accessed February 6, 2014).

Pender, Matea, Michael Hurwitz, Jonathan Smith, and Jessica S. Howell. 2012. *College Choice: Informing Students' Tradeoffs Between Institutional Price and College Completion.* New York, NY: The College Board (October). <http://advocacy.collegeboard.org/sites/default/files/policy-college-choice-studentstradeoffs-price-completion.pdf> (accessed January 30, 2014).

Plank, Stephen and Will Jordan. 2001. "Effects of information, guidance, and actions on postsecondary destinations: A study of talent loss." *American Educational Research Journal*, 38(4): 947-979.

Sawady, Edna R. and Jennifer Tescher. 2008. *Financial Decision Making Processes of Low-Income Individuals*. Working Paper UCCO8-2. Cambridge: Joint Center for Housing Studies at Harvard University. <a href="http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/jchs.harvard.edu/files/ucc08-2\_sawady\_tescher.pdf">http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/jchs.harvard.edu/files/ucc08-2\_sawady\_tescher.pdf</a>> (accessed April 2, 2014).

Sawhill, Isabel V. and Stephanie Owen. 2013. *Should Everyone Go to College?* Washington, DC: Brookings Institution, Center on Children and Families (May). <http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/research/files/papers/2013/05/07%20should%20everyo ne%20go%20to%20college%20owen%20sawhill/08%20should%20everyone%20go%20to%20co llege%20owen%20sawhill.pdf> (Accessed October 9, 2013).

Schulman, Karen and Helen Blank. 2013. Pivot Point: State Child Care Assistance Policies 2013.

Washington, DC: National Women's Law Center.

<http://www.nwlc.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/final\_nwlc\_2013statechildcareassistancereport. pdf> (accessed January 30, 2014).

Smith, Jonathan, Matea Pender, and Jessica Howell. 2013. "The Full Extent of Student-College Academic Under-Match." *Economics of Education Review* 32: 247-261.

Starobin, Soko S and Laanan, Frankie Santos. 2008. "Broadening female participation in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics: Experiences at community colleges." *New Directions for Community Colleges* (June): 142: 37 -46.

Stewart, James. September 13, 2013. "New Metric for Colleges: Graduates' Salaries." New York Times. <a href="http://www.nytimes.com/2013/09/14/business/economy/nice-college-but-whatll-i-make-when-i-graduate.html?pagewanted=all">http://www.nytimes.com/2013/09/14/business/economy/nice-college-but-whatll-i-make-when-i-graduate.html?pagewanted=all</a> (accessed February 1, 2014).

Taylor, Paul, Kim Parker, Richard Fry, D'Vera Cohn, Wendy Wang, Gabriel Velasco, and Daniel Docterman. 2011. *Is College Worth It? College Presidents, Public Assess Value, Quality and Mission of Higher Education*. Washington, DC: Pew Social & Demographic Trends, Pew Research Center. <a href="http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/files/2011/05/higher-ed-report.pdf">http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/files/2011/05/higher-ed-report.pdf</a>> (accessed January 28, 2014).

Tomás Rivera Policy Institute. 2004. *Caught in the Financial Aid Information Divide: A National Survey of Latino Perspectives on Financial Aid*. Reston, VA: Sallie Mae Fund.

Tornatzky, Louise G., Richard Cutler, and Jognho Lee. 2002. *College Knowledge: What Latino Parents Need To Know and Why They Don't Know It*. Claremont, CA: University of Southern California, Tomás Rivera Policy Institute. <a href="http://trpi.org/wp-content/uploads/archives/College\_Knowledge.pdf">http://trpi.org/wp-content/uploads/archives/College\_Knowledge.pdf</a>> (accessed February 5, 2014).

U.S. Census Bureau. 2013. "Poverty Thresholds." Washington, DC: United States Census Bureau. <a href="http://www.census.gov/hhes/www/poverty/data/threshld/index.html">http://www.census.gov/hhes/www/poverty/data/threshld/index.html</a> (accessed January 30, 2014).

U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA). Food and Nutrition Service. 2013. "Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program: Students" <a href="http://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/students">http://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/students</a> (accessed February 5, 2014).

U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-12 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12). <a href="http://nces.ed.gov/datalab/">http://nces.ed.gov/datalab/</a>> (accessed February 4, 2014).

U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, 2009 Beginning Postsecondary Students Longitudinal Study. <a href="http://nces.ed.gov/datalab/">http://nces.ed.gov/datalab/</a>> (accessed February 4, 2014).

U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS), Fall 2009, Completions Component. <a href="http://nces.ed.gov/datalab/"></a> (accessed February 4, 2014).

U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, 2007-08 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:08). <a href="http://nces.ed.gov/datalab/">http://nces.ed.gov/datalab/</a>> (accessed February 4, 2014).

U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, 2008 Baccalaureate and Beyond Survey. <a href="http://nces.ed.gov/datalab/">http://nces.ed.gov/datalab/</a>> (accessed February 4, 2014).

U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Postsecondary Student Aid Study, 2008 Undergraduate Cohort. <a href="http://nces.ed.gov/datalab/"></a> (accessed February 4, 2014).

U.S. Department of Education, Office of Federal Student Aid. 2011. "2011-2012 Federal Pell Grant Payment and Disbursement Schedules." Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education (February). <a href="http://www.ifap.ed.gov/dpcletters/P1101.html">http://www.ifap.ed.gov/dpcletters/P1101.html</a> (accessed February 14, 2014).

U.S. Department of Education, Office of Federal Student Aid. 2013. "Federal Student Grant Programs." Washington, DC: US Department of Education (June). <http://studentaid.ed.gov/sites/default/files/federal-grant-programs.pdf> (accessed February 14, 2014).

Waters Boots, Shelley. 2010. *Improving Access to Public Benefits: Helping Eligible Individuals and Families Get the Income Supports They Need*. The Ford Foundation, the Open Society Institute, and the Annie E. Casey Foundation (April).

<http://www.aecf.org/~/media/Pubs/Topics/Economic%20Security/Family%20Economic%20Su pports/ImprovingAccesstoPublicBenefitsHelpingEligibl/BenefitsAccess41410.pdf> (accessed December 5, 2012).

Wider Opportunities for Women. 2010. *The Basic Economic Security Tables for the United States*. Washington, DC: Wider Opportunities for Women. <http://www.wowonline.org/documents/BESTIndexforTheUnitedStates2010.pdf> (accessed January 30, 2014).

Wider Opportunities for Women. 2014. "BEST Index." Washington, DC: Wider Opportunities for Women (WOW). <a href="http://www.basiceconomicsecurity.org/Default.aspx">http://www.basiceconomicsecurity.org/Default.aspx</a>> (accessed January 30, 2014).